IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KEITH JUNIOR BARLOW

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Dec 18 2019 10:57 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

Docket No. 77055

DEATH PENALTY CASE

Direct Appeal From A Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Douglas Herndon, District Judge District Court No. C-13-290219-1

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JoNell Thomas #4771
Special Public Defender
Navid Afshar #14465
Deputy Special Public Defender
Alzora B. Jackson #2255
Chief Deputy Special Public Defender
Monica R. Trujillo #11301
Chief Deputy Special Public Defender
Clark County Special Public Defender

Morgan v. State, 416 P.3d 212 (Nev. 2018)
<u>Mullaney v. Wilbur,</u> 421 U.S. 684 (1975)
Murphy v. Florida, 421 U.S. 794 (1975)
Nev. Dep't of Corr. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 2018 Nev. Unpub. Lexis No. 396, Docket No. 74679 (Nev. May 10, 2018)
Nev. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 2018 Nev. Unpub. Lexis No. 1143, Docket no. 76847 (Dec. 13, 2018)
Nunnery v. State, 127 Nev. 749, 163 P.3d 235 (2011)
Ohio Adult Parole Authority v. Woodward, 523 U.S. 272 (1998)
<u>Parker v. State,</u> 109 Nev. 383, 849 P.2d 1062 (1993)
<u>Parle v. Runnels,</u> 505 F.3d 922 (9 th Cir. 2007)
<u>Patterson v. New York,</u> 432 U.S. 197 (1977)
<u>People v. Amezcua and Flores,</u> 434 P.3d 1121 (Cal. 2019)
People v. Cash, 50 P.3d 332, (Cal. 2002)

People v. Pearson,
297 P.3d 793 (Cal. 2013)
Pitchford v. State,
45 So.3d 216 (Miss. 2010)
Redeker v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct.,
122 Nev. 164, 127 P.3d 520 (2006)
Riley v. State,
107 Nev. 205, 808 P.2d 551 (1991)
Rimer v. State,
131 Nev. 307, 351 P.3d 697 (2015)
Ring v. Arizona,
536 U.S. 584 (2002)
Roberts v. Louisiana,
428 U.S. 325 (1976)
Robins v. State,
106 Nev. 611, 798 P.2d 558 (1990)72
Robinson v. United States,
878 A.2d 1273 (D.C. 2005)
Rogers v. State,
948 So.2d 655 (Fla. 2006)
Rose v. State,
123 Nev. 194, 163 P.3d 408 (2007)
Rudin v. State,
120 Nev. 121, 86 P.3d 572 (2004)

Russeau v. State,
171 S.W.3d 871 (Tex. Crim. App. 2005)
<u>Salazar v. State,</u> 107 Nev. 982, 823 P.2d 273 (1991)
Sanchez v. Roden,
753 F.3d 279 (1st Cir. 2014)
<u>Sanders v. Sears-Page</u> , 131 Nev. 500, 354 P.3d 201 (Ct. App. 2015)
<u>Sayedzada v. State,</u> 419 P. 3d 184 (Nev. Ct. App. 2018)
Schoels v. State, 114 Nev. 981, 966 P.2d 735 (1998)
<u>Servin v. State,</u> 117 Nev. 775, 32 P.3d 1277 (2001)91
<u>Shirley v. Yates,</u> 807 F.3d 1090 (9th Cir. 2015)
<u>Simmons v. South Carolina,</u> 512 U.S. 154 (1994)
<u>Skaggs v. Commonwealth,</u> 694 S.W.2d 672 (Ky. 1985)
<u>Skaggs v. Parker,</u> 235 F.3d 261 (6th Cir. 2000)
<u>Skipper v. South Carolina,</u> 476 U.S. 1, (1986)

Snyder v. Louisiana,
552 U.S. 472 (2008)
<u>State v. Alvogen, Inc.,</u> Docket No. 77100
<u>State v. Bell,</u> 603 S.E.2d 93 (N.C. 2004)
<u>State v. Berget,</u> 826 N.W.2d 1 (S.D. 2013)
<u>State v. Clark,</u> 981 S.W.2d 143 (Mo. 1998)
<u>State v. Jackson,</u> 836 N.E.2d 1173 (Ohio 2005)
State v. Saintcalle, 309 P.3d 326 (Wn. 2013)
<u>Stringer v. Black,</u> 503 U.S. 222 (1992)
Summers v. State, 102 Nev. 195, 718 P.2d 676 (1986)
Summers v. State, 122 Nev. 1326, 148 P.3d 778 (2006)
<u>Sumner v. Shuman,</u> 483 U.S. 66 (1987)
<u>Tavares v. State,</u> 117 Nev. 725, 30 P.3d 1128 (2001)

Thomas v. State,
114 Nev. 1127, 967 P.2d 1111 (1998)
Thompson v. State,
111 Nev. 439, 894 P.2d 375 (1995)
Townsend v. State,
103 Nev. 113, 734 P.2d 705 (1987)
Trop v. Dulles,
356 U.S. 86 (1958)
United States v. Collins,
551 F.3d 914 (9th Cir. 2009)
United States v. Concepcion Sablan,
555 F.Supp.2d 1205 (D.Colo. 2007)
United States v. Flores,
63 F.3d 1342 (5th Cir. 1995)
United States v. Giovanelli,
945 F.2d 479 (2 nd Cir. 1991)
United States v. Gleason,
616 F.2d 2 (2 nd Cir. 1979)
United States v. Harlow,
444 F.3d 1255 (10 th Cir. 2006)
United States v. Hicks,
389 F.3d 514 (5th Cir. 2004)
United States v. Johnson,
378 F.Supp.2d 1051 (N.D. Iowa 2003)

<u>United States v. Johnson,</u>
713 F. Supp. 2d 595 (E.D. La. 2010)
United States v. Jordan,
357 F.Supp.2d 889 (E.D.Va. 2005)
United States v. Lillard,
354 F.3d 850 (9th Cir. 2003)
United States v. Lyon,
397 F.2d 505 (7th Cir. 1968)
United States v. Mandelbaum,
803 F.2d 42 (1st Cir. 1986)
United States v. Martinez-Salazar,
528 U.S. 304 (2000)
United States v. McCullah,
76 F.3d 1087 (10th Cir. 1996)
<u>United States v. Mills,</u>
446 F.Supp.2d 1115 (C.D. Cal. 2006)
United States v. Necoechea,
986 F.2d 1273 (9th Cir. 1993)
United States v. Olano,
507 U.S. 725 (1993)
United States. v. Payne,
2 F.3d 706 (6th Cir. 1993)
United States v. Sanchez,
176 F.3d 1214 (9 th Cir. 1999)

<u>United States v. Sawyer,</u> 443 F.2d 712 (D.C. Cir. 1971)
<u>United States v. Sioux,</u> 362 F.3d 1241 (9th Cir. 2004)
<u>United States v. Stitt,</u> 760 F.Supp.2d 570 (E.D. Va. 2010)
<u>United States v. Vazquez-Lopez,</u> 22 F.3d 900 (9th Cir. 1994)
<u>United States v. Walker,</u> 490 F.3d 1282 (11 th Cir. 2007)
<u>United States v. Young,</u> 470 U.S. 1 (1985)
Valdez v. State, 124 Nev.1172, 196 P.3d 465 (2008) 79-80, 81, 100, 108, 113, 141
Vanguard Piping Sys., Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 129 Nev. 602, 309 P.3d 1017 (2013)
<u>Wainwright v. Witt,</u> 469 U.S. 412 (1985)
<u>Walker v. State,</u> 113 Nev. 853, 944 P.2d 762 (1997)
Watson v. State, 130 Nev. 764, 335 P.3d 157 (2014)
Weber v. State, 121 Nev. 554, 119 P.3d 107 (2005)
White v. State, 83 Nev. 292, 429 P.2d 55-57 (1967)

Williams v. State, 103 Nev. 106, 734 P.2d 700 (1987)
Williams v. State, 429 P.3d 301 (Nev. 2018)
Williams v. Woodford, 396 F.3d 1059 (9th Cir. 2005)
<u>Witherspoon v. Illinois,</u> 391 U.S. 510 (1968)
Witter v. State, 112 Nev. 112 Nev. 908, 921 P.2d 886 (1996)
<u>Woodson v. North Carolina,</u> 428 U.S. 280 (1976)
<u>Zant v. Stephens,</u> 462 U.S. 862 (1983)
Statutory Authority
1977 Statutes of Nevada, page 1542, Chapter 585, SB220
NRS 6.010
NRS 50.275
NRS 175.031
NRS 175.036
NRS 175.141
NRS 175.552
NRS 177.055

NRS 200.033 87, 99, 128, 129, 133
NRS 200.035
NRS 202.4415
NRS 205.065
NRS 213.005-213.100
NRS 213.010
NRS 289.150-289.360
NRS 483.160
Other Authority 21 Okl. St. § 701.11 (2019)
18 USCS §3594 (2019)
18 USCS §3594 (2019)
42 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. § 9711(c)(1)(v)(2019)
42 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. § 9711(c)(1)(v)(2019)
42 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. § 9711(c)(1)(v)(2019)
42 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. § 9711(c)(1)(v)(2019)

Colo. Rev. Stat. § 18-1.3-1201(2)(d) (2018)
Fair Punishment Project, Too Broken to Fix: Part 1, An In-depth Look at America's Outlier Death Penalty Counties." (August 2016)
Fla. Stat. § 921.141 (2019)
Idaho Code § 19-2515(7)(b) (2019)
Ind. Code Ann. § 35-50-2-9(f)
K.S.A. § 21-6617(e) (2019)
La.C.Cr.P. Art 905.8 (2019)
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101(3)(c) (2019)
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-103 (2019)
Mo. Rev. Stat. § 565.030 (2019)(4)
MCA 46-18-305 (2019)
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 29-2520(4)(f), (g) (2019)
N.H. RSA 630:5(IX) (2019)
N.C. Gen Stat. § 15A-2000(b) (2018)
Nevada Const. Art. I, Sec. 3
Nevada Const. Art. I, Sec. 6
Nevada Const. Art. I, Sec. 8
Nevada Const. Art. IV, Sec. 21

Nevada Const. Art. IV, Sec 27
NRAP 36(c)(3)
O.C.G.A. § 17-10-31(c) (2019)
ORC Ann. § 2929.03(D)(2) (2017)
ORS § 163.150(1), (2) (2019)
Pepson & Sharifi, Two Wrongs Don't Make A Right: Federal Death Eligibility Determinations and Judicial Trifurcations, 43 Akron L. Rev. 1 (2010) 97
"Report to the President, Forensic Science in Criminal Courts: Ensuring Scientific Validity of Feature-Comparison Methods", Presidential Council of Advisors on Science and Technology, (2016) 69
S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20(C) (2019)
SCR 250(4)(c)
S.D. Codified Laws §23A-27A-4 (2019)
"Strengthening Forensic Science in the United States: A Path Forward", National Research Council (2009)
Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(h) (2019)
Terance D. Miethe, UNLV Dept. of Criminal Justice (2012), Estimates of Time Spent in Capital and Non-Capital Murder Cases: A Statistical Analysis of Survey Data from Clark County Defense Attorneys, available at https://files.deathpenaltyinfo.org/legacy/documents/ ClarkNVCostReport.pdf (last visited 8/16/2019)
Tex. Code Crim. Proc. Art. 37.071.2(g) (2019)

U.S. Const. Amend. V
U.S. Const. Amend VI
U.S. Const. Amend VIII
U.S. Const. Amend XIV
Utah Code 76-3-207(5)(c) (2019)
Virginia Code § 19.2.264.4(D) (2019)
Wa. Rev. Code Ann. § 10.95.060(4), .080(2) (2019)
Wyo. Stat. Ann. § 6-2-102(d)(ii) (2019)

I. <u>JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT</u>

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction and two sentences of death, pursuant to jury verdicts. The jury convicted appellant Keith Barlow of two counts of first degree murder with use of a deadly weapon, and one count each of burglary while in possession of a firearm, home invasion while in possession of a deadly weapon, and assault with use of a deadly weapon. The judgment of conviction was filed on September 26, 2018. 17 ROA 3883. A timely notice of appeal was filed the same day. 17 ROA 3910. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under NRS 177.015 and NRS 177.055.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(1), this death penalty case is assigned to the Nevada Supreme Court.

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether the jury selection process was unconstitutional.
 - 1. Whether the district court's limitations on voir dire deprived Keith of his right to an impartial jury in violation of Morgan v. Illinois.
 - 2. Whether he district court violated Keith's rights by allowing the State to improperly challenge prospective jurors in violation of <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>.
 - 3. Whether the district court erroneously denied Keith's challenge for cause of a potential juror, resulting in a jury which was not impartial.

- B. Whether significant errors during the culpability trial require the granting of a new trial.
 - 1. Whether the district court abused its discretion by allowing an unqualified "expert" to provide testimony about tool mark analysis.
 - 2. Whether the district court erroneously instructed the jury.
 - 3. Whether there was pervasive prosecutorial misconduct in the culpability trial.
- C. Whether significant errors during the penalty trial require the granting of a new trial.
 - 1. Whether the aggravating circumstance of great risk of death is invalid.
 - 2. Whether evidence in aggravation was admitted in violation of Keith's rights to cross-examination and confrontation.
 - 3. Whether the State committed prosecutorial misconduct during the penalty phase of the trial.
 - 4. Whether the district court refusal to allow a defense argument on a mandatory jury instruction, which was fully supported by long-standing Nevada law, evidenced a lack of knowledge of Nevada's death penalty scheme, and violated Keith's constitutional rights to a fair penalty trial.
- D. Whether Nevada's death penalty is unconstitutional.
 - 1. Whether Nevada's death penalty scheme does not narrow the class of persons eligible for the death penalty.
 - 2. Whether the death penalty is cruel and unusual punishment.
 - 3. Whether executive clemency is unavailable.
- E. Whether the judgment should be vacated based upon cumulative error.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 5, 2013, the State filed an Information charging Appellant Keith Barlow with two counts of first degree murder, and one count each of invasion of the home while in possession of a deadly weapon, burglary while in possession of a deadly weapon, assault with a deadly weapon, possession of a firearm by an ex-felon, unlawful possession of an electronic stun device, and attempt unlawful use of an electronic stun device. 1 ROA 59. Keith entered a plea of not guilty to the charges. 1 ROA 185.

On July 1, 2013, the State filed its Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty. 1 ROA 82. The State alleged aggravators of (1) prior violent felony (battery with use of a deadly weapon); (2) prior violent felony (attempt murder); (3) prior violent felony (assault with use of a deadly weapon); (4) great risk of death to more than one person; (5) felony murder (burglary or invasion of the home); and (6) multiple murders in this proceeding. 1 ROA 82. On May 31, 2018, the State filed its notice of evidence in aggravation. 7 ROA 1381.

In response to a pretrial petition for a writ of habeas corpus, the State announced that it did not intend to proceed on the charge of attempted unlawful use of an electronic stun device. 2 ROA 281, 298. The charge was dismissed. 2 ROA 317, 375. An Amended Information was filed on February 3, 2015. 2 ROA 356.

Prior to trial, the State informed the district court that it had offered Keith a negotiation of two counts of first degree murder with a stipulation of life with the possibility of parole on each count, and Keith had declined that negotiation. 6 ROA 1223. The offer was withdrawn prior to trial. 6 ROA 1223.

Trial began on June 18, 2018. ¹7 ROA 1519. The jury was selected on June 22, 2018. ¹1 ROA 2325. On June 27, 2018, Keith filed objections to the State's proposed culpability phase jury instructions. ¹2 ROA 2756 - ¹3 ROA 2763. He also submitted proposed instructions. ¹3 ROA 2765.

The jury returned its verdicts for the culpability phase of the trial on June 28, 2018. 14 ROA 3210; 15 ROA 3284. The jury found Keith guilty of home invasion while in possession of a deadly weapon, burglary while in possession of a firearm, first degree murder with use of a deadly weapon (Woods), first degree murder with use of a deadly weapon (Cobb), and assault with a deadly weapon. 14 ROA 3210-13; 15 ROA 3285-88. Special verdicts for the murder counts noted the jury found Keith guilty of each count under both premeditated and felony-murder theories. 14 ROA 3211-12. The State dismissed Counts 6 and 7, 15 ROA 3290.

¹On the seventh day of trial, Keith had a medical issue involving glucose issues and very low blood pressure. The trial was briefly postponed and then resumed. 13 ROA 2770.

The jury's verdicts for the penalty phase were returned on July 6, 2018. 16 ROA 3633; 17 ROA 3828. The jury returned verdicts of death for both counts, and found for both counts the aggravators of prior violent felony (battery with a deadly weapon); prior violent felony (attempt murder); prior violent felony (assault with a deadly weapon in this case); great risk of death; felony murder based upon burglary or home invasion in this case; and conviction for more than one offense of murder in this case. 16 ROA 3640; 17 ROA 3828-31. The jury found the following mitigators: Keith served his country in the military and received an honorable discharge; his daughters love their father; and he sought help from the VA hospital and Southern Nevada Mental Health for his mental health issues. 16 ROA 3635-36; 17 ROA 3829-30. The jury did not find numerous other mitigating circumstances that were submitted by defense counsel, including mitigation concerning his difficult childhood. 16 ROA 3635-38.

The sentencing hearing took place on September 26, 2018. 17 ROA 3894. After hearing argument from counsel and objections concerning the PSI, the district court announced its sentencing decisions, as reflected by the judgment of conviction below. 17 ROA 3894-3904.

The judgment of conviction was filed on September 26, 2018. 17 ROA 3883.

The district court sentenced Keith to serve a term of 72 to 180 months for count 1; a

concurrent term of 72 to 180 months for count 2; a term of death, with a consecutive term of 8 to 20 years for a deadly weapon enhancement on count 3, to be served consecutively to count 2; a term of death, with a consecutive term of 8 to 20 years for a deadly weapon enhancement on count 4, to be served consecutively to count 3, a term of 28 to 72 months for count 5 to be served concurrently to count 4. He was given 2,033 days credit for time served. 17 ROA 3883-86. A warrant of execution, and an order of execution, were filed on September 26, 2018. 17 ROA 3887, 3891. An order staying execution was filed the same day. 17 ROA 3892.

The clerk filed its Notice of Appeal on September 26, 2018. 17 ROA 3906. Keith filed his Notice of Appeal the same day. 17 ROA 3910.

V. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u>

The State charged Keith Barlow with two counts of first-degree murder and other offenses. Its theory at trial was that on February 2, 2013, Keith confronted his former girlfriend, Danielle Woods, and her new boyfriend, Donnie Cobb, at Donnie's apartment at 2140 South Paradise, in Las Vegas, early in the morning, and that he later that day returned to the apartment and shot them both, resulting in their deaths. 11 ROA 2509. Keith entered a plea of not guilty to all of the charges.

On February 2, 2014, at 6:52 a.m., a 911 operator received a call from Danielle.

12 ROA 2572-73; 33 ROA 7257 (noting Exhibit 186 - DVD of 911 call). Officers

arrived at her apartment shortly after the 911 call. 12 ROA 2572 (Officer Dewreeds); 12 ROA 2604 (Officer Perkett). When contacted at the front gate of the apartment complex, Danielle seemed nervous, scared, shaky, and was breathing heavily. 12 ROA 2574, 2609. Donnie would not leave his apartment. He was upset, angry and fearful. 12 ROA 2575.²

Officers took reports from Danielle and Donnie. Danielle told them that she was walking back from 7-Eleven when Keith confronted her, tried to grab her, and said she was leaving with him. 12 ROA 2576, 2609. She said there was a scuffle and that he was trying to take her away. Danielle said Keith took out a taser and pushed it on her neck as he was forcing her towards his car.³ 12 ROA 2576, 2610. The stun gun was not activated. 12 ROA 2635. Donnie heard the commotion and came out to see what was happening. 12 ROA 2576. The officers testified that Danielle reported that Keith pulled a gun on Donnie, racked a round into the chamber, pointed at him, and made a verbal threat. 12 ROA 2576, 2611. She stated that a security guard from

²Office Dewreeds did not document anything about the demeanor of Danielle or Donnie. The official report was authored by Officer Smith. Dewreeds did not have the ability to write a supplemental report. 12 ROA 2580. He did not document anything that was said by Danielle or Donnie. 12 ROA 2581. He sent an email to a former prosecutor about his recollections. 12 ROA 2602.

³An officer noted in his report that the neck injury could have been older and not connected to this call. He also reported "calm" and "in fear" in the place on his report for "demeanor." 12 ROA 2635.

across the street yelled over at them, and then Keith ran back to his car and drove off. 12 ROA 2576. Officer Perkett reported that Danielle said Keith said he would be back later. 12 ROA 2611. Donnie also gave a statement and his story was consistent with Danielle's. 12 ROA 2578. Danielle provided officers with Keith's address and efforts were made to contact Keith there. 12 ROA 2577. A description of Keith's clothing and vehicle was announced on the police radio so other units could look for him and his vehicle. 12 ROA 2612. Danielle said Keith was wearing a tan plaid flannel jacket. 12 ROA 2633-34.

After the police left, Danielle called her sister Elise Richards. 12 ROA 2533. Danielle was upset and a little scared, but she was not crying. 12 ROA 2533. Danielle said that Keith tased her, she started screaming and yelling, and people came out of nearby businesses to help her. She said that Keith pulled a gun on Donnie and Keith said that he was going to kill her. 12 ROA 2534.

At about 8:30 a.m., Danielle called her niece Tamara Herron. 12 ROA 2550.

Danielle sounded scared and fearful, and said that while she was returning from 7-

⁴It was the end of the shift for Dewreeds and Perkett, so other officers took over and continued the investigation. 12 ROA 2614. Perkett had the ability to write his own report, but did not do so. 12 ROA 2617.

⁵Defense counsel renewed their objection to this testimony on hearsay and <u>Crawford</u> grounds, 12 ROA 2535. The court noted the continuing objection. 12 ROA 2536.

Eleven, Keith pulled up his car and tried to force her into the car with a stun gun. She said she started screaming, Donnie came out, and Keith pulled a pistol on Donnie. 12 ROA 2551. Tamara told Danielle to call the cops and she said she did. 12 ROA 2552.

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