IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KEITH JUNIOR BARLOW,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jun 16 2020 03:44 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 77055

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JONELL THOMAS Nevada Bar #004771 Chief Deputy Special Public Defender

NAVID AFSHAR
Nevada Bar #014465
ALZORA B. JACKSON
Nevada Bar #002255
MONICA TRUJILLO
Nevada Bar #011301
Deputies Special Public Defender
330 South 3rd Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155
(702) 455-6562

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

the door, and began firing on Woods and Cobb. 12 AA2627-31. There is no reasonable argument that this was not a premeditated and deliberate act. As such, any error to this instruction is harmless, and Barlow's conviction should be affirmed.

VI. THE STATE DID NOT COMMIT PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

When considering claims of prosecutorial misconduct, this Court engages in a two-step analysis. First, the Court "must determine whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper." <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). Second, if the conduct was improper, the Court "must determine whether the improper conduct warrants reversal." <u>Id</u>.

"With respect to the second step of this analysis, this court will not reverse a conviction based on prosecutorial misconduct if it was harmless error. The proper standard of harmless-error review depends on whether the prosecutorial misconduct is of a constitutional dimension." <u>Id.</u> at 1188-89. "If the error is of constitutional dimension, then we apply the <u>Chapman v. California</u> 386 U.S. 18 (1967) standard and will reverse unless the State demonstrates, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the error did not contribute to the verdict." <u>Id.</u> at 1189. If the error is not of constitutional dimension, we will reverse only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict. Id.

The standard of review for prosecutorial misconduct rests upon Defendant showing "that the remarks made by the prosecutor were 'patently prejudicial."

Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1328, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995) (*citing* Libby v. State, 109 Nev. 905, 911, 859 P.2d 1050, 1054 (1993)). This is based on a defendant's right to have a fair trial, not necessarily a perfect one. Ross v. State, 106 Nev. 924, 927, 803 P.2d 1104, 1105 (1990). The relevant inquiry is whether the prosecutor's statements so contaminated the proceedings with unfairness as to make the result a denial of due process. Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 2471 (1986). Defendant must show that the statements violated a clear and unequivocal rule of law, he was denied a substantial right, and as a result, he was materially prejudiced. Libby, 109 Nev. at 911, 859 P.2d at 1054.

Claims of prosecutorial misconduct that have not been objected to at trial will not be reviewed on appeal unless they constitute "plain error." <u>Leonard v. State</u>, 17 P.3d 397, 415 (2001); <u>See Mitchell v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 1417, 971 P.2d 813, 819 (1998); <u>Rippo v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 1239, 946 P.2d 1017, 1030 (1997).

A. The State's Argument Regarding the Sequence of the Bullets Was Not Improper

"A prosecutor may not argue facts or inferences not supported by the evidence." Jeffries v. State, 133 Nev. 331, 334, 397 P.3d 21, 26 (2017) (citing: Williams v. State, 103 Nev. 106, 110, 734 P.2d 700, 703 (1987). However, "the prosecutor may argue inferences from the evidence and offer conclusions on contested issues." <u>Id</u>. (citing: Miller v. State, 121 Nev. 92, 100, 110 P.3d 53, 59 (2005).

Barlow first argues that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by arguing in its closing about the sequence the bullets were fired in, as well as whether the jury could infer intent from the relative positions of the bodies/bullet trajectories.

AOB, at 84. In relevant part, the State argued the following during its closing argument:

And you look at her, I'm sure she wasn't sitting like that to watch the TV that was over here. Based on the evidence she was probably sitting in that reclining type chair, the red one next to her where her feet are at. But when the door crashes in, it's probably safe to assume she stood up in response to the crashing and barging into the apartment.

. . . .

So when she gets shot, she falls back in between the seat and the couch. And given the evidence, likely the shot that took her down was the one that went through her side, that went through her lungs and her heart, put her between the couches. Again, caught off guard. There was no conversation in there with a friend or an acquaintance or the intruder.

As you can see from the – the picture here, the shot to the head, do you remember what the medical examiner said as – when this entry wound – there was no exit wound. Do you remember where he said that bullet was recovered from? Down in her right jaw. That's a downward trajectory across her face. And the way she's sitting, somebody had to come – shot right above her and – and –this angle [overruled objection by Barlow's counsel]. From above. If she was standing and somebody comes in and shoots, if it were to hit her head right there, it either would have exited the back straight, maybe up a little bit, if the hand's a little bit lower than the head, or been recovered from the back of the head.

This was a targeted killing and that right there is the evidence that she was the target.

15 AA3245-47.

Nothing contained in this argument constitutes prosecutorial misconduct. The State had called forensic scientist Shandra Lynch to testify regarding the positioning of the bodies in the apartment following the murder. 12 AA2667-694. The State had further called Dr. Leonard Roquero⁷ to testify about the bullet wounds each victim had suffered, as well as the trajectories of said bullets once the entered the bodies. 13 AA2878-94. Nothing in this portion of the State's closing was at odds with either of these testimonies.

The State argued that based upon the body positions, as well as the trajectories of the bullets, the jury could draw certain inferences regarding the positioning of the victims at the time the murders occurred. 15 AA3245-47. Such an argument is simply an inference of the evidence introduced at trial. While Barlow is correct that there was no testimony as to the sequence of the shots (see 13 AA2880-81), he cannot argue that the trajectory of the bullet found in Woods jaw does not indicate that she was likely shot by someone who was at a higher vantage point than her head. See 12 AA2670-71 (discussing the position of Woods deceased body and the injury

⁷ Dr. Roquero did not perform the autopsy for either victim. He reviewed photographs, autopsy reports and x-rays at the Coroner's office to form an opinion as to the cause and manner of death. 13 AA2873-74.

to her front left forehead); 13 AA2881 (discussing that the injury to her head was caused by a bullet that entered near her scalp and was recovered from her right lower jaw). This is in contrast to other bullet wounds she suffered that indicated she was standing upright when shot. See 13 AA2878-80.

It is neither outlandish nor an unreasonable inference that she was first shot while standing, fell, and then shot again in the head. The alternative would be that Woods was shot in the head from above, somehow had her body positioned to the same height of the shooter, and then was shot in the chest. Pursuant to <u>Jeffries</u> and <u>Miller</u>, such an argument is not prosecutorial misconduct. The district court recognized as much when it overruled Barlow's objection during this portion of the State's closing. 15 AA3246.

Barlow further takes issue with the following statements made during the State's rebuttal argument. <u>AOB</u> at 82-83. In relevant part, the State argued on rebuttal:

I mean, the guy doesn't – Mr. Cobb doesn't even have a chance to put down his lighter. He walks through that door. She stands up, kicks over the table. He shoots her right through her chest, because there's no way she was shot that way while she was down in the position she's found in. He fires the second round at her that hits her and grazes the back of her head and goes into the wall, and then unloads on Donnie Cobb, saving one bullet to execute Danielle Cobb – or Danielle Woods

15 AA3276-77.

At this point Barlow objected, claiming that the State was arguing facts not in evidence regarding whether Barlow saved one bullet for Ms. Woods, and the sequence of the bullets fired. The district court sustained the objection. 15 AA3277. The State went on to clarify that:

The medical examiner can't tell you sequencing, but the physical evidence at the scene can. You know that she's in that position when she gets the bullet into her head. That's what we call the coup de grace, and that's what we call first degree murder.

15 AA3277.

Once again, any argument made by the State regarding trajectories of the bullets was simply a permissible inference based on the evidence. In fact, following Barlow's objection, the State clarified that it was not submitting that the sequence of the shots had been admitted into evidence, but rather that the jury could infer the sequence of shots based upon other evidence that was admitted. Further, to the extent it error to argue regarding the sequence of the shots fired, said error was cured by the sustained objection. See Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1193-94, 196 P.3d at 465 (holding that a prosecutor's question did not constitute prosecutorial misconduct and there was no prejudice because the district court sustained the objection...").

Barlow also claims that the State's use of the words "execute," "coup de gras," and "kill shot" were "unsupported by the evidence, inflammatory, and were designed to arouse the emotions of the jurors. <u>AOB</u> at 84.

These words occurred in the following contexts during the State's closing:

This was a targeted killing and that right there is the evidence that she was the target. So when you look at Donnie, he had shots and some that like kind of sewed through his body, in and out, but she had the **kill shot** to the head.

. . .

He fires the second round at her that hits her and grazes the back of her head and goes into the wall, and then unloads on Donnie Cobb, saving one bullet **to execute** Danielle Cobb – or Danielle Woods

. . .

You know that she's in that position when she gets the bullet into her head. That's what we call the *coup de grace*, and that's what we call first degree murder.

15 AA3247, 3277.

An examination of the Webster's definition reveals that execute is defined as "to put to death..." Coup de grace is define as "a decisive finishing blow or event." A kill shot is quite literally, a shot which kills. All of these terms describe the same thing, that this shot was indicative of someone intending to kill another human being.

The words chosen by the State were supported by the evidence. As the State previously articulated, the evidence was such that it was a reasonable inference that Woods was shot, fell down, and then shot again in the head. One of the State's

theories of culpability on the first-degree murder charge was that the murder committed by Barlow was premeditated and deliberate. 15 AA3249-50. The most likely reason a person would shoot another person in the head, especially after they had already been shot, is that they intended to kill them. As such, the words chosen were specifically tied to one of the State's theories of prosecution, and were supported by the evidence.

Regarding Barlow's argument that the words were inflammatory, Barlow did not object to any of this language as inflammatory at trial. As such, he has waived all but plain error review. "When an error has not been preserved, this court employs plain-error review. Under that standard, an error that is plain from a review of the record does not require reversal unless the defendant demonstrates that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190, 196 P.3d 465, 477 (2008).

Further, the language was not inflammatory. The standard of review for prosecutorial misconduct rests upon Defendant showing "that the remarks made by the prosecutor were 'patently prejudicial.'" Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1328, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995) (citing Libby v. State, 109 Nev. 905, 911, 859 P.2d 1050, 1054 (1993)). This is based on a defendant's right to have a fair trial, not necessarily a perfect one. Ross v. State, 106 Nev. 924, 927, 803 P.2d 1104, 1105 (1990). The relevant inquiry is whether the prosecutor's statements so contaminated the

v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 2471 (1986). Defendant must show that the statements violated a clear and unequivocal rule of law, he was denied a substantial right, and as a result, he was materially prejudiced. Libby, 109 Nev. at 911, 859 P.2d at 1054. In this case, none of the terms used by the State rise to the level of being patently prejudicial. The terms accurately described Barlow's behavior, and were supported by substantial evidence. Therefore, the State did not commit misconduct, and this claim should be denied.

However, to the extent the State did commit misconduct, it was harmless. These arguments were brought to support the State's theory that Barlow was guilty of first-degree murder because the murder was deliberate and premeditated. However, the State also pursued a theory that Barlow was guilty of first-degree murder under the felony murder rule. The jury convicted Barlow of Burglary. As such, Barlow would have still been guilty of first-degree murder under the felony murder under NRS 200.033(1)(b). Therefore, since these statements only pertained to the State's premeditation and deliberation theory, Barlow would still have been convicted of first-degree murder even if the State had never made these statements. As such, this claim should be denied.

///

///

B. The State Did Not Comment on Barlow's Silence

Barlow further argues that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by commenting on Barlow's decision not to testify. <u>AOB</u> at 85.

A prosecutor's direct comment on a defendant's failure to testify violates the defendant's constitutional right against self-incrimination. Bridges v. State, 116 Nev. 752, 763, 6 P.3d 1000, 1008 (2000). It is further impermissible for a prosecutor to indirectly remark on a defendant's failure to testify if "the language used was manifestly intended to be or was of such a character that the jury would naturally and necessarily take it to be comment on the defendant's right to testify. Id. at 763-64, 6 P.3d at 10008-09. This Court has previously found that statements that urge the jury to focus on the evidence introduced at trial does not constitute commentary on the defendant's decision not to testify at trial. Knight v. State, 116 Nev. 140, 145, 993 P.2d 67, 71 (2000).

Barlow did not object to this comment, and as such, has waived all but plain error review. 15 AA3277-78; <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190, 196 P.3d 465, 477 (2008). However, while Barlow is entitled only to plain error review, the argument fails no matter the standard of review. The statement Barlow now argues was a comment on his silence was:

Ladies and gentlemen, there's only one way to look at this evidence. And there's at least one person in this room who knows who executed Donnie Cobb and Danielle Woods, and I suggest to you, if you do your job you'll go back to that

room, you'll think about it for a little while, and you'll come back and tell that person you know, too.

15 AA3277.

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